# Treatment of pregnant women with preterm premature rupture of membranes in prevention of adverse neurological consequences of a child

**Bracha**, Lirose

Master's thesis / Diplomski rad

2021

Degree Grantor / Ustanova koja je dodijelila akademski / stručni stupanj: University of Zagreb, School of Medicine / Sveučilište u Zagrebu, Medicinski fakultet

Permanent link / Trajna poveznica: https://urn.nsk.hr/urn:nbn:hr:105:709184

Rights / Prava: In copyright/Zaštićeno autorskim pravom.

Download date / Datum preuzimanja: 2025-01-23



Repository / Repozitorij:

Dr Med - University of Zagreb School of Medicine Digital Repository





## UNIVERSITY OF ZAGREB SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

#### Lirose Bracha

Treatment of pregnant women with preterm premature rupture of membranes in the prevention of adverse neurological consequences of a child

#### **GRADUATE THESIS**



**ZAGREB, 2022** 

This graduation paper was made at The Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology under the supervision of Assistant professor Josip Juras, M.D., Ph.D. It was submitted for evaluation in the academic year 2021/2022.

Graduation paper was made at The Department Obstetrics and Gynecology, University Hospital Centre Zagreb.

Mentor: Assist. prof. Josip Juras, M.D., Ph.D.

#### **List of Abbreviations**

ACS -Antenatal corticosteroids

ADHD - Attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder

AFI – Amniotic fluid index

BMI – Body mass index

BPD - Bronchopulmonary dysplasia

CNS – Central nervous system

CP – Cerebral palsy

cPVL – cystic periventricular

leukomalacia

CSF – Cerebrospinal fluid

FM – Fetal membranes

GBS – Group B streptococcus

GMH-IVH - Germinal matrix hemorrhage and intraventricular hemorrhage

IGFBP-1 - Insulin-like growth factor binding protein

IL - Interleukin

IMs – Intracellular mediators

IVH – Intraventricular hemorrhage

MMP – Matrix metalloproteinase

NDI – Neurodevelopmental impairment

NEC – Necrotizing enterocolitis

PAMG-1 - placental -microglobulin 1

PHVD - Posthemorrhagic ventricular dilatation

PIVH - Peri-intraventricular hemorrhage

PPROM – Preterm premature rupture of membranes

PROM – Premature rupture of membranes

PTB – Preterm birth

PVHI – Periventricular hemorrhagic infarction

PVL – Periventricular leukomalacia

RDS – Respiratory distress syndrome

ROM – Rupture of membranes

ROP – Retinopathy of prematurity

ROS – Reactive oxygen species

SES – Socio-economic status

TNF – Tumor necrosis factor

WMD - White matter damage

#### **Table of Contents**

Summary	1
Sažetak	2
1. Introduction	3
1.1. Preterm premature rupture of membranes	3
1.2. Epidemiology	3
1.3. Risk factors	4
1.4. Pathogenesis	5
1.5. Clinical picture and Diagnosis	7
2. Neurological outcomes	8
2.1. Short-term neurological outcomes	9
2.2. Long-term neurological outcomes	12
3. Management	13
3.1.Treatment of PROM before and at the limit of viability	13
3.2. Treatment of PROM from 24 to 33 weeks of gestation	15
3.3. Treatment of late preterm PROM (34 to 36 weeks of gestation	ı) 21
4. Conclusion	22
5. Biography	23
6. References	24

#### **Summary**

Preterm premature rupture of membranes (PPROM) occurs in 3% of all pregnancies and is responsible for around one-third of all preterm births, resulting in more frequent perinatal morbidity and fetal death. Generally, complications of PPROM increase in frequency and severity as gestational age decreases. PPROM has been linked to several risk factors, including PPROM in a previous pregnancy, maternal cigarette smoking, and importantly urogenital tract infections, leading to chorioamnionitis. The role of infection and inflammation in the development of PPROM and subsequent adverse neurological outcomes on the child, both short-term and long-term, has been demonstrated and established in the scientific literature. It is therefore crucial to correctly diagnose the pregnant woman presenting with signs and symptoms of PPROM and have a satisfying management plan. Expectant care vs intervention, the use of tocolytics, the duration of antimicrobial prophylaxis, the timing of prenatal corticosteroids, the use of magnesium sulfate, and the timing of delivery are all topics of intense research and controversy in the management of PPROM. Studies show that antibiotic administration increases the period of latency and improves certain short-term neurological outcomes, such as lowering the rate of abnormal cerebral ultrasound scans prior to discharge from the hospital, but it has no effect on perinatal mortality, preterm births, or long-term neurological outcomes. Furthermore, an agreement on the best antibiotic treatment regimen, mode of administration, and duration has yet to be reached. Antenatal corticosteroids improve infant survival and lowers substantial short-term morbidity, but long-term neurodevelopmental disability is still a challenge. The use of tocolytics as a preventive measure for neonatal morbidity and mortality is still controversial and research on this approach has not been sufficient. There is evidence that the use of Magnesium sulfate is beneficial in terms of neuroprotection and prevention of adverse neurological outcomes. Ultimately, a universal approach to the management of PPROM has yet to be agreed upon by clinicians. Larger-scale, better quality, and more up to date research is still required in order to find the optimal clinical management protocol.

Keywords: Preterm premature rupture of membranes, antibiotics, corticosteroids, tocolytics, neuroprotection, neurological outcomes

#### Sažetak

Prijevremeno prsnuće plodovih ovoja prije termina (PPROM) javlja se u 3% svih trudnoća i odgovorno je za otprilike jednu trećinu svih prijevremenih porođaja, što rezultira češćim perinatalnim morbiditetom i fetalnom smrću. Općenito, komplikacije PPROM-a češće su I teže što je gestacijska dob manja. PPROM je povezan s nekoliko čimbenika rizika, uključujući PPROM u prethodnoj trudnoći, pušenje cigareta majke I, možda najvažnije, infekcije urogenitalnog trakta koje dovode do korioamnionitisa. U znanstvenoj je literaturi dokazana i utvrđena uloga infekcije i upale u nastanku PPROM-a i naknadnih nepovoljnih neuroloških ishoda na dijete, kratkoročnih i dugoročnih. Stoga su ispravni dijagnostički postipak u trudnice sa znakovima i simptomima PPROM-a te zadovoljavajući plan liječenja od velike važnosti. Ekspektativan postupak naspram intervencije, uporaba tokolitika, trajanje antimikrobne profilakse, vrijeme primjene kortikosteroida prenatalno, uporaba magnezijevog sulfata i vrijeme porođaja teme su intenzivnog istraživanja i kontroverzi u skrbi za trudnice s PPROMom. Istraživanja pokazuju da primjena antibiotika povećava razdoblje latencije i poboljšava određene kratkoročne neurološke ishode, kao što je smanjenje stope abnormalnih cerebralnih ultrazvučnih pretraga prije otpusta iz bolnice, ali nema utjecaja na perinatalnu smrtnost, učestalost prijevremenih porođaja ili dugoročne neurološke ishode djeteta. Nadalje, dogovor o najboljem režimu liječenja antibioticima, načinu primjene i trajanju tek treba postići. Antenatalni kortikosteroidi poboljšavaju preživljavanje novorođenčadi, ali dugoročne posljedice na neurološki razvoj i dalje je izazov. Korištenje tokolitika kao preventivne mjere za smanjenje neonatalnog morbiditeta i mortaliteta još je uvijek kontroverzno i istraživanja o ovom pristupu nisu bila dovoljna za jasan zaključak. Postoje dokazi da uporaba magnezijevog sulfata djeluje neuroprotektivno. U konačnici, kliničari se tek trebaju dogovoriti o univerzalnom pristupu pri PPROM-u. Još uvijek su potrebna veća i kvalitetnija istraživanja kako bi se pronašao optimalni protokol kliničkog odlučivanja.

Ključne riječi: prijevremeno prsnuće plodovih ovoja prije termina, antibiotici, kortikosteroidi, tokoliza, neuroprotekcija, neurološki ishod

#### 1. Introduction

#### 1.1. Preterm premature rupture of membranes

The term "preterm premature rupture of membranes" refers to PROM that occurs before 37 weeks of pregnancy. (1) Premature rupture of membranes is defined as fetal membrane rupture and amniotic fluid release that occurs more than 1 hour before the commencement of uterine contractions. (2) PPROM is a cause of spontaneous premature birth, similar to preterm labor and cervical insufficiency. Regardless of the gestational age, both term and preterm PROM are associated with a period of latency, which may increase the risk of complications such as perinatal infections and umbilical cord compression, the latter occurs as a result of oligohydramnios. (3) For those reasons, PPROM constitutes an important cause of morbidity and mortality in neonates.

The risk and severity of complications arising from PPROM depend on gestational age, and generally decrease with increasing gestational age. (4) For PROM at term with no associated infection or asphyxia, the neonate's risk of severe adverse outcomes is low. (3) Despite the possibility of complications, birth between 32 and 36 weeks of pregnancy is generally associated with good newborn outcomes, especially if the fetus has demonstrated pulmonary maturity. (3) In contrast, the risk of complications significantly increases with decreasing gestational age. The risk of neonatal complications and morbidities is particularly high with early delivery following preterm PROM at 23 to 30 weeks' gestation. (5) Survival is possible when PROM occurs between 24-weeks to 26-weeks' gestation provided adequate intervention, albeit the morbidities of extreme prematurity are more severe in this group of newborns. (6) With immediate delivery and without medical intervention, neonatal mortality is highly likely when PROM develops before the limit of viability. (7)

#### 1.2. Epidemiology

Approximately 12% of all pregnancies are affected by PROM. (1) PROM occurs in roughly 8% to 10% of term pregnancies (37 weeks or more gestational age) and is usually followed by the start of labor. (3) Preterm births can also be classified by gestational age: about 5% of preterm births occur at less than 28 weeks' gestation (extreme prematurity), 15% at 28–31 weeks' gestation (severe prematurity), 20% at 32–33 weeks' gestation (moderate prematurity), and 60–70% at 34–36 weeks' gestation (moderate prematurity). (8) Preterm PROM is a primary cause

of newborn morbidity and mortality, accounting for roughly 32%-40% of preterm births. (9) The prevalence of PPROM varies, which is due to differences in the populations studied. When it comes to weeks of pregnancy, it affects 0.5 percent of pregnancies before the 27th week, 1% of pregnancies between 27 to 34 weeks' gestation, and 1% of pregnancies between 34 to 37 weeks' gestation. (10) PPROM is one of the most common causes of premature delivery, accounting for 18% to 20% of perinatal fatalities in the United States and 30-40% of preterm deliveries in Oman and Iran. (11) Preterm rupture of membranes is responsible for about 30% of preterm births in Egypt (11), and 26.6% of preterm births in India. (12)

#### 1.3. Risk factors

The occurrence of preterm PROM has been linked to a number of risk factors. Low socioeconomic status, uterine overdistension, second-and third-trimester bleeding, low body mass index (BMI), copper and ascorbic acid nutritional deficiencies, maternal cigarette smoking, cervical conization or cerclage, pulmonary disease in pregnancy, connective tissue disorders (e.g., Ehlers-Danlos syndrome), and preterm labor or symptomatic contractions in the current pregnancy are just a few of them. (3)

Prior PTB, particularly preterm PROM (PPROM), has been linked to PPROM in subsequent pregnancies. (5) The chance of recurrence increases as the index PTB's gestational age decreases. Those who have had a previous delivery near the limit of viability (23–27 weeks) have a 27.1 percent chance of having PTB again. (13) Those who have had PTB owing to PROM in the past have a 3.3-fold higher risk of PTB due to PROM (13.5% vs. 4.1%) and a 13.5-fold higher risk of PPROM before 28 weeks' gestation (1.8% vs. 0.13%) in subsequent pregnancies. (13)

Infections of the urogenital tract have also been connected to preterm PROM. (2) Preterm PROM has been linked to Neisseria gonorrhoeae, Chlamydia trachomatis, and Trichomonas vaginalis (14), as well as Ureaplasma urealyticum, Sneathia species, Escherichia coli, Mycoplasma hominis, Enterococcus faecalis, and Gardnerella vaginalis. (15) Although vaginal colonization with group B-hemolytic Streptococcus (GBS) does not appear to be linked to preterm PROM, cervical colonization appears to be. (16) Preterm PROM and low-birthweight neonates are linked to GBS bacteriuria. (16)

In both nulliparas and multiparas, a short cervical length (25 mm) determined by transvaginal ultrasound and a low maternal BMI (19.8 kg/m2) were linked to an elevated risk of later PROM. (3) Mercer et al. has also shown that short cervical length is associated with a higher risk of premature birth in women with PPROM. (13) Nulliparas with a 25-mm shorter cervix had a 3.7-fold higher risk, while multiparas had a 3.1-fold higher risk. (9)

Additionally, it has been shown that black race is strongly related to an increased risk of PTB at fewer than 35 weeks of pregnancy due to PPROM, even after adjusting for SES and maternal medical risk variables. (17)

Ultimately, no single risk factor has been associated with all cases of PPROM. (7) In many situations, it is likely that a combination of variables, including a maternal genetic or physiologic predisposition, work together to lead to PPROM. (7)

#### 1.4. Pathogenesis

The development of PPROM is complex and not completely understood. Several mechanisms of disease development have been studied and demonstrated.

Focal infection and inflammation may play a primary or secondary role in the etiology of PPROM, according to histological (evidence of inflammatory processes in close proximity to point of membrane rupture) and microbiological results. (18) Inflammatory mediators are involved in the destruction of the fetal membranes' integrity as well as the activation of uterine contractility. In reaction to a pathogen's invasion, they are created as part of the physiologic maternal defense process. FM thinning and apoptosis are facilitated by reactive oxygen species and intracellular mediators (IMs) such as prostaglandins, cytokines, and proteinases. (19)(20)

It is important to note that the fetal membranes serve as a mechanical and immunological barrier as well as a microbiological barrier. (18) Microbial invasion from the genital tract, activation of the host inflammatory response, collagenolysis-mediated mechanical disruption, and membrane weakening predispose the membranes to PPROM. (21)(22). These are all made possible when the immunological and mechanical aspects of the fetal membranes are compromised.

The structure and collagen content of fetal membranes have also been subject to study to assess the association between differences or deficiencies in certain types of collagen and the development of PPROM. One study showed that the tensile strength of the chorioamniotic membranes would be reduced if type III collagen (which serves as support inside the extracellular matrix of the membranes) was deficient. (9). Other studies have shown that a decrease in total collagen content of amnions was also seen in patients with PROM at various gestational ages. (4), (9)

PPROM is linked with significant edema and disruption of the collagen network within the compact, fibroblast and spongy layers. (19) MMP-1, MMP-8, and MMP-9 are enzymes that have been linked to the mechanisms of membrane rupture, with several studies providing supportive evidence. (19) (23) (24) Although the exact trigger secreted by chorioamnionic cells to induce MMP-9 expression is unknown, bacterial products and/or pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 and tumor necrosis factor (TNF-alpha), may act as paracrine or autocrine signals for these metalloproteases in pregnancies complicated by intra-amniotic infection. (21) Mechanical stress also plays a role in the pathogenesis of PPROM. At term, fetal membranes have a weak zone overlying the cervix that demonstrates enhanced collagen remodeling and apoptosis. Preterm FM has a weak region as well but is overall stronger than term FM. (19) A variety of genes associated with apoptosis and MMP activity are induced by stretch pressures, including acute stretch. (25) The separation of the amnion from the choriodecidua happens as part of the FM rupture process. (26) One suggested mechanism for the accelerated degradation rate of FM collagen is that the enzymatic breakdown of a specific collagen molecule creates residual stress in the tissue, which must be transferred to nearby molecules, which may subsequently rupture. (26)

Another pathological process proposed as a contributor to the development of PPROM is oxidative stress. A steady redox balance between reactive oxygen species (ROS) and antioxidants characterizes healthy pregnancy, as it does other physiological states. (27) PPROM-related behavioral risk factors, mainly cigarette smoking, produce a number of ROS, which can disrupt the redox balance, damage the collagen matrix, and deplete antioxidant defenses. (18) Collagen has been identified as a main target for reactive oxygen species (ROS). ROS can activate collagenolytic enzymes such as MMP9, which is suppressed by the antioxidants Superoxide dismutase and N-acetylcysteine (a Glutathione precursor). (28) These reactions are triggered by exposures that have significant biochemical repercussions and can lower the membrane rupture threshold. (18)(27)

#### 1.5. Clinical picture and diagnosis

Patients often describe a "gush" of fluid, while others have a history of small quantities of fluid leaking over time. Urinary leakage is prevalent during pregnancy, especially at the end, and it's easy to confuse it with PROM. Similarly, increased vaginal secretions and perineal dampness (especially in warmer temperatures) may be misinterpreted for amniotic fluid during pregnancy. (1) Patient history is a crucial component in the diagnosis of PPROM. It has a 90% accuracy rate and should not be overlooked. (2)

Examination should be done in such a way that the risk of infection is as low as possible. (29) A sterile speculum should be used to examine the cervix and vagina for patients who are not in active labor. (30) Digital cervical examination should be avoided due to the risk of shortened latency period and subsequent intrauterine infections. (29)

The Nitrazine test can be used to differentiate amniotic fluid from urine and vaginal secretions in the diagnosis of PPROM. (1) The presence of Nitrazine-positive fluid (pH>6) flowing from the cervix is diagnostic in the setting of questionable clinical history. If the sterile speculum examination is ambiguous, a sterile swab can be used to capture a specimen from the posterior fornix of the vagina. (7)

The ferning test is another diagnostic tool used to differentiate amniotic fluid from other vaginal secretions. If there is contamination with cervical mucous, the ferning test may be falsely positive (generally non-branching arborization). With prolonged leakage and minimal residual fluid, false-negative visual examination, ferning, or Nitrazine testing can occur. (7)

If a diagnosis is suspected but not confirmed clinically, an ultrasound examination should be conducted. (1,7) With ultrasound-guided amnioinfusion of indigo carmine, the diagnosis can be made unambiguously (1 mL in 9 mL of sterile normal saline). The passage of blue fluid through the vaginal canal and onto a perineal pad confirms the diagnosis. (1,7,29) Although this diagnostic method is considered an "unequivocal" diagnostic method for confirmation of membrane rupture, this invasive test carries a higher maternal and fetal risks for trauma, bleeding, infection, and preterm labour. (31)

If pooling is not observed but clinical suspicion still exists, another approach to confirming PPROM with ultrasound is measuring the volume of amniotic fluid. Oligohydramnios (as measured by amniotic fluid index (AFI) of 5 cm, maximum vertical pocket of 2 cm, of

subjective impression) is satisfying evidence of PROM and additional diagnostic tests are not required. (30)

A meta-analysis in 2013 compared the performance of two commercially available tests for the diagnosis of PROM; The AmniSure ® ROM Test (AmniSure ® International LLC, Boston, MA, USA) which is based on the detection of placental -microglobulin 1 (PAMG-1), and the Actim ® Prom Test (Oy Medix Biochemica Ab, Kauniainen, Finland) which is based on the detection of insulin-like growth factor binding protein (IGFBP-1). (32) When the researchers evaluated the sensitivity and diagnostic odds ratio for the IGFBP-1 test between known membrane status vs unknown membrane status at presentation, they discovered that patients with unknown membrane status had lower sensitivity and diagnostic odds ratio than those with known membrane status. This finding has practical relevance because the only clinically relevant population to screen in obstetrical care is women whose membrane status is not clear at the time of presentation. The PAMG-1 test outperformed the IGFBP-1 test in terms of sensitivity, specificity, and diagnostic odds ratio for patients suspected of having ROM but whose membrane status was unknown at the time of entry into the research. (32)

#### 2. Neurological outcomes

The immature brain goes through multiple important stages of CNS development during the perinatal period, and immune system activation during fetal and neonatal life influences vital stages of brain development, with long-term implications for neurological and mental health. (33) The role of inflammation and infection in adverse neurological outcomes has been extensively investigated in an attempt to find a causal relationship between the two. It has been proposed that inflammation can have a priming effect (sensitization or preconditioning) and play a role in both early and late injury, as well as repair and recovery following an insult. (34) Furthermore, in the absence of infection, long-term or intermittent systemic inflammation may be more harmful to the brain than short-term inflammation (such as is seen in infectious diseases). (35) Increased levels of IL-6, IL-8, and IL-1 in the CSF accompany neonatal encephalopathy (36), and elevated levels of these cytokines in the CSF and blood are linked to poor neurological outcomes. (37) Increased levels of various cytokines in the newborn blood at term are also substantially linked to the risk of cerebral palsy. However, it's unclear whether

inflammation is a result or a cause of the encephalopathy and neurodevelopmental complications. (38)

Some clinical studies have provided more clearance on the significance of previous infection in eventual brain injury, such as cerebral palsy. (34) A chart review of children with moderate to severe spastic or dyskinetic cerebral palsy assessed the association between clinical chorioamnionitis and cerebral palsy risk in a case—control study from the Kaiser Permanente Medical Care Program. In term infants, chorioamnionitis or placental infection was linked to a fourfold greater risk of cerebral palsy. (39)

Intraventricular hemorrhage (IVH), periventricular hemorrhagic infarction (PVHI), and periventricular leukomalacia (PVL) are among the neurological complications linked to poor neonatal outcomes. (40) Other neurological outcomes that have been associated with prematurity are Cerebral palsy, and Retinopathy of prematurity. Complications are more likely to occur when the gestational age and birth weight decrease. (41,42) Neurological outcomes can be reviewed from the perspective of short-term and long-term outcomes.

#### 2.1. Short term neurological outcomes

Premature babies are likely to experience short-term adverse clinical consequences as a result of anatomic or functional immaturity during the neonatal period. In the preterm infant, bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD), retinopathy of prematurity (ROP), necrotizing enterocolitis (NEC), and brain abnormalities (eg, intraventricular hemorrhage [IVH] and periventricular leukomalacia) are all prevalent short-term consequences, with varying rates of occurrence depending on gestational age and birth weight. (42)

GMH-IVH (germinal matrix hemorrhage and intraventricular hemorrhage) is still an important cause of brain damage in premature babies. (43) GMH-IVH has a deleterious influence on neurodevelopmental outcome due to both direct and indirect effects, including posthemorrhagic ventricular dilatation (PHVD) and white matter damage (WMD). (44) Despite advances in newborn intensive care over the previous few decades, IVH morbidity has not decreased, owing to a considerable increase in premature neonate survival rates. (45) Mild (grades I and II) and severe IVH (grades III and IV) are both linked to a high likelihood of moderate-severe neurodevelopmental damage in survivors. (45,46) Previous research has revealed that inflammatory mediators may contribute to the development of IVH by increasing

cerebral oxygen consumption (47), breaking down brain barriers (48), and activating the immune system. (49) In addition to the impact of inflammatory factors, infection-induced changes in cerebral blood pressure may contribute to the development of IVH. Premature newborns lack a fully developed cerebral blood pressure autoregulation function. (50) A metaanalysis in 2019 studied the relationship between antenatal infection and IVH in preterm infants. Antenatal infection increased the risk of IVH in preterm newborns (OR 2.18, 95 CI 1.58–2.99), according to the findings of 23 cohort studies involving 13605 infants. Antenatal infection raised the risk of both mild (OR 1.95, 95% CI 1.09–3.49) and severe IVH (OR 2.65, 95% CI 1.52–4.61) compared to no infection. The researchers suggested that both histologic and clinical chorioamnionitis increase the risk of developing IVH, and that their emphasis on this etiological factor may be beneficial in the prevention of this common short-term complication. (51) The diagnosis of IVH and associated sequelae is made possible by cranial ultrasonography screening, with up to half of all cases being asymptomatic. (52) Almost all instances of IVH in preterm newborns occur within the first five days of life, (52) with around half of cases in very low birth weight infants happening within the first six hours. (53) For these reasons, the American Academy of Neurology and the Child Neurology Society's Pediatric Committee recommend that routine cranial ultrasound screening be performed between 7 and 14 days of age on all infants born at less than 30 weeks of gestation, or greater than 30 weeks of gestation with any clinical suspicion of IVH, and repeated at 36 to 40 weeks of postmenstrual age. (54)

Periventricular hemorrhagic infarction (PVHI- grade IV IVH previously) is produced by infarction due to poor venous drainage of the medullary veins in the white matter. (55) Doppler ultrasound shows that the circulatory disruption occurs in the subependymal region, where the medullary veins drain into the terminal vein. (43) PVHI can destroy motor and associative white matter axons and evolve into a single or many cysts that can become confluent with the lateral ventricle, depending on the location of the lesion. (52) Cerebral palsy with spastic hemiparesis in about half of the infants or an asymmetric spastic quadriparesis in the majority of infants with bilateral involvement are the clinical manifestations of PVHI. (43) In 2019, a retrospective multicenter observational cohort study on the characteristic sonographic findings of PVHI and their association with neurodevelopmental outcomes suggested that a thorough examination of the sonographic features of PVHI, combining the severity score with lesion size and trigone involvement, can improve the potential for early prognostication of neurodevelopmental outcomes in very preterm infants, particularly gross motor outcome and

cerebral palsy. The researchers concluded that more research is needed to better understand the underlying mechanisms of PVHI so that early intervention strategies, prevention, and family counseling can be developed. (55)

Periventricular leukomalacia (PVL) is a type of cerebral white matter injury that occurs in a specific pattern and includes periventricular localized necrosis with cystic development, as well as more diffuse cerebral white matter injury. (56) PVL, like IVH, has an underlying etiology in the developing cerebral vasculature and cerebrovascular autoregulation system. (50) Preterm newborns are unable to enhance cerebral perfusion to border zone regions of the brain supplied by the immature penetrating cerebral vasculature in response to systemic hypotension. This triggers the hypoxia-ischemia cascade, which results in brain damage, which is amplified by chorioamnionitis. (57) White matter volume loss and ventriculomegaly result from a decrease of premyelinating oligodendrocytes and an increase in hypertrophic astrocytes. (58) White matter alterations may not be visible on the first ultrasound and may not be discovered until a follow-up ultrasound or MRI. At 6 weeks of age, cranial ultrasonography detects PVL in approximately 10% of very low birthweight newborns. (57) Infants diagnosed with PVL are at risk for developing spastic quadriplegia or diplegia, a type of CP that affects the lower extremities more than the upper extremities. (58) A systematic review and meta-analysis in 2019 researched the way PVL and PIVH (peri-intraventricular hemorrhage) affected the incidence of cerebral palsy, sensorineural dysfunction, and developmental scores in preterm newborns. They found that when PVL was the assessed exposure, preterm infants were at increased risk of developing CP in both cystic and non-cystic white matter abnormalities, with higher evidence for cystic PVL. (59)

A study performed in Zurich University Hospital's obstetrics department claimed that the single most important prenatally accessible risk factor for the development of cystic periventricular leukomalacia (cPVL) is the PPROM-delivery interval. Babies with chorioamnionitis benefit from immediate delivery. Fetal weight gain may mitigate the inflammatory risk of cPVL induced by a prolonged PPROM-delivery delay in the absence of clinical chorioamnionitis. (60)

#### 2.2. Long-term neurological outcomes

There is a high rate of long-term neurodevelopmental impairment (NDI) and chronic health problems among preterm survivors. (41) When examined at 18 to 24 months corrected age, around 15 to 25% of surviving extremely preterm newborns have serious disability (ie, severe NDI), defined as significant cognitive and/or motor impairment (10%-15%); Cerebral palsy (CP) accounts for 6 to 12 percent of the population; Hearing loss that necessitates the use of amplification equipment (1% to 3%); and blindness (1% to 2% of the population). (61)

Multiple mechanisms, including hypoxia and toxic damage by bacterial products, may contribute to neurodevelopmental impairment associated with intraamniotic infection (clinical chorioamnionitis). The majority of research have revealed that intraamniotic infection can cause long-term impairments such as neurodevelopmental delay and cerebral palsy, especially at or near term, but also at extremely preterm gestational ages. (62) Prematurity (78%), intrauterine growth restriction (34%), intrauterine infection (28%), antepartum hemorrhage (27%), and multiple gestation (20%) were the most common clinical factors or pathologies associated with CP in a cohort review of 235 children diagnosed with CP between 1986 and 2003. (63)

A longitudinal observational study assessed the neonatal and neurodevelopmental outcomes of three groups of infants with increasing perinatal inflammatory exposure: no chorioamnionitis, histological chorioamnionitis alone, or histological plus clinical chorioamnionitis. When compared to no chorioamnionitis, histological plus clinical chorioamnionitis was linked to a higher risk of cognitive impairment. When compared to histological plus clinical chorioamnionitis, histological chorioamnionitis was linked with a lower risk of death/neurodevelopmental disability. (64)

In a meta-analysis of the relationship between chorioamnionitis and cerebral palsy, cerebral palsy was linked to both clinical and histologic chorioamnionitis. However, many possible biases, such as discrepancies in definitions between studies, the amount of blinding in establishing exposure status, and whether the study adjusted for relevant confounders, hampered this analysis. (65) A secondary study of data from 1574 babies of patients at high risk for preterm birth (32 weeks) who were recruited in one clinical trial found a link between neurocognitive abnormalities at two years of age and verified neonatal sepsis, but not with clinical chorioamnionitis. (66)

The EPIPAGE-2 research from 2011 is a national cohort study that looked at outcomes and changes in outcomes for infants born between 22 and 34 weeks of pregnancy over 15 years. Between 1997 and 2011, researchers found improvements in survival without neuromotor impairments in each gestational age group in our national population-based cohort of preterm neonates. Even among infants delivered relatively preterm, there was a statistically significant decrease in the likelihood of cerebral palsy, but the risk of developmental delay was considerable. (67)

Preterm birth prevention, antenatal corticosteroid therapy, and delayed umbilical cord clamping have all been suggested to minimize the risk of prematurity, IVH, and PVL, all of which are linked to an increased chance of later developing CP. These measures, however, have not reduced the overall incidence of CP because only a small fraction of CP cases are seen in infants delivered at fewer than 32 weeks of gestation. (58)

#### 3. Management

The approach to the management of PPROM is one of the most controversial subjects in perinatal medicine, as many factors may affect treatment and outcome. (68) After accurately diagnosing PPROM, an assessment of several maternal and fetal conditions should be made. These include gestational age, fetal presentation, and fetal well-being, as well as evidence of intrauterine infection, abruptio placentae, and fetal compromise. (69) The issues under extensive research and debate in relation to the management of PPROM include expectant management versus intervention, use of tocolytics, duration of administration of antibiotic prophylaxis, the timing of administration of antenatal corticosteroids, and timing of delivery. (68) Depending on the factors noted above, the most important decision is whether to induce labor (or perform a cesarean delivery) or to manage the patient expectantly. (68) The management of PPROM can primarily be reviewed in the context of gestational age.

#### 3.1. Treatment of PROM before and at the limit of viability

Premature rupture of the fetal membranes (PROM) before or at the limit of viability is associated with a relatively poor prognosis, as it has been linked to significant morbidity and mortality. The limit of viability is defined as the earliest stage of fetal maturity at which there is a reasonable chance, but not a high probability, of extrauterine survival, which is roughly before 23 weeks of gestation. (70) Up to 14% of pregnant women who have spontaneous

PROM before or at the limit of viability eventually stop leaking amniotic fluid, owing to the fetal membranes resealing, and the outcomes of this subset of pregnancies are comparable to those of pregnancies without rupture of membranes. (70) Pregnancies complicated by ROM before or at the limit of viability that do not achieve resealing of the membranes progress into a latency period or preterm birth. The majority of pregnancies complicated by PROM before or at the limit of viability deliver shortly after presentation; around half of the patients remain pregnant after the first week of rupture, and the average latency for pregnancies that do not deliver within the first 24 hours is 10 to 14 days. (70,71)

The ideal approach to treatment of pregnancies complicated with previable PPROM is still a matter of debate in the field of obstetrics. Management differs according to patient wishes and expectations, gestational age, fetal and maternal conditions, and can be more or less aggressive depending on desired and expected outcomes and prognosis.

Most individuals who are stable with PROM before viability and opt to carry their pregnancies to term are not admitted to the hospital and are not given prenatal corticosteroids or tocolytics, but a rectovaginal group B Streptococcus (GBS) culture is collected. (72) As early as 20 weeks of pregnancy, antibiotic prophylaxis may be recommended. (70,72)

Those who are treated as outpatients and reach the limit of viability, typically 23 weeks of gestation, are admitted to the hospital for further treatment. (72) Antenatal corticosteroids and latency antibiotics are primarily administered for fetal maturation when there is a high chance of early delivery. (19,72) Magnesium sulfate for neuroprotection may be recommended once the limit of viability is reached and there's a good chance of delivery. (10,72)

More aggressive intervention at this stage is still controversial and under investigation. Several studies support amnioinfusion for treating PROM before or at the limit of viability, however, this procedure has not been shown to restore adequate amounts of amniotic fluid due to continuous leakage, and its benefit might be more related to the elimination of inflammatory material and bacteria, and inhibition of ascending transcervical infection. (71,73,74)

Over the last two decades, a variety of treatments for sealing both iatrogenic and spontaneously ruptured membranes have been used, including platelet injection with cryoprecipitate ('amniopatch'), gelatin sponges, collagen plugs, and intracervical fibrin sealants. Several studies have provided results on the use of fibrin sealants in small groups of women with preterm PROM. However, these case studies used varied methodologies, enrolled patients at

different gestational ages, and had variable success criteria, making them difficult to compare and pool. (75) One study attempted fibrin adhesion in 26 women with preterm PROM between the ages of 18 and 36 weeks of pregnancy. The pregnancies lasted 3 to 172 days after the sealant was applied, with no evidence of intrauterine infection. The perinatal mortality rate, however, remained high. Unfortunately, because there was no control group in this trial, the technique's efficacy could not be determined. (76)

Quintero presented the first successful amniopatch case in 1999, which involved the intraamniotic injection of platelets and cryoprecipitate. While the exact mechanism of action is unknown, platelet activation at the site of rupture is thought to produce adhesion to damaged areas and the creation of an aggregate. (77) The treatment, while sometimes successful, has been linked to unexpected fetal death and should be considered experimental. (70)

A Cochrane systematic review published in 2016 compared the effects of different sealing procedures used after PPROM with conventional care (no sealant) on maternal and newborn outcomes. The review included two studies involving 141 women. The authors concluded that there was insufficient evidence to evaluate preterm prelabour membrane rupture sealing techniques. This review emphasizes the lack of prospective randomized studies in this field. Future research efforts should focus on conducting randomized trials to test the effect of promising therapies that have only been studied in cohort studies so far, according to the authors. (78)

There is no consensus regarding the management of cervical cerclage in the setting of PPROM. (71,72) One fear is that removing the foreign body will result in an earlier birth; yet, keeping it in place increases the risk of infection, which can lead to premature birth and mother and infant morbidity. (79) One study concluded that he treatment of pPROM in the presence of a cervical cerclage can be tailored to the patient's specific needs, and cerclage removal is not required to prevent infant infections or death. (80)

#### 3.2. Treatment of PROM from 24 to 33 weeks of gestation

In the case of PPROM in the early preterm fetus (ie, <34+0 weeks) and in the absence of obstetric complications, expectant management is thought to benefit the fetus by increasing the gestational age at birth and therefore reducing complications related to prematurity. (68,72,81) This benefit should be carefully weighed against the well-established risks of the latency period

when managing PPROM expectantly, such as maternofetal infection, abruptio placentae, cord prolapse, and intrauterine death. (4,7,81)

Women with a high risk of preterm labor may benefit from prolonged hospitalization in a tertiary center and other preterm labor management options, so it's critical to identify women who will deliver within one week of ROM, especially in the setting of intrauterine infection, placental abruption, or nonreassuring fetal testing. (68,82)

Women with PPROM should have their vital signs, including pulse, blood pressure, respiration rate, and temperature, documented if they are being treated as an inpatient, and clinical symptoms and indicators of infection should also be monitored. (83) To identify clinical infection with chorioamnionitis, the National Institute for Health and Care excellence advises utilizing a combination of clinical examination (pulse, blood pressure, temperature, and symptoms), maternal blood tests (C-reactive protein and white cell count), and cardiotocography to measure fetal heart rate. If the results of the clinical evaluation or any of the tests do not correlate, the patient should be monitored further and the tests should be repeated. (84)

The use of antenatal corticosteroids is standard obstetrical practice for all pregnant patients between 23+0 and 33+6 weeks of gestation who are at an increased risk of preterm delivery within the next seven days, in accordance with nearly all guidelines. (19,72,85) ACS improves neonatal survival and reduces major short-term morbidity at this gestational age, but long-term neurodevelopmental issues remain a concern. (85) One review compared the effects of betamethasone and dexamethasone in the management of preterm birth, and found that when compared to the betamethasone group, dexamethasone reduced the risk of intraventricular hemorrhage (IVH); For RDS and periventricular leukomalacia, there were no statistically significant differences between those who were given dexamethasone or betamethasone. (86)

In Finland, a population-based retrospective cohort study investigated whether antenatal corticosteroid treatment is linked to mental and behavioral issues in children delivered at term (>37 weeks 0 days' gestation) and preterm (37 weeks 0 days' gestation). Attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) or conduct disorder, emotional disorders, social functioning difficulties, and tic disorders were among the disorders studied. The cumulative incidence of mental and behavioral abnormalities was significantly higher among preterm children who were exposed than those who were not (14.6% versus 10.7%), although the hazard ratio did not achieve statistical significance (adjusted HR 1.0, 95 percent CI 0.92-1.09). This

indicates that the short-term benefits of ACS exposure in preterm babies are outweighed by the long-term hazards. (87)

One meta-analysis conducted in 2019 investigated the effects of repeat doses of prenatal corticosteroids and concluded that after an initial course of prenatal corticosteroids, women at continued risk of preterm birth who were given repeat doses had a reduced the likelihood of their baby needing respiratory support after birth and resulted in neonatal benefits. (88) The researchers also showed that there were no differences in neurodevelopment between those who were exposed to repeated prenatal corticosteroids and those who were not, yet found a more significant decrease in birth weight, and suggested that the number of repeat treatment courses should be limited to three at most, and the total dose should be between 24 mg and 48 mg, to provide clinical benefit with the least effect on growth. (85,88)

It is well established that broad-spectrum antibiotics prolong pregnancy, reduce maternal and neonatal infections, and reduce morbidity associated with gestational age. (72,89,90) One theory proposed that perinatal antibiotic prescriptions could prevent neurological and respiratory disabilities through one of two mechanisms: either extending pregnancy or preventing or eliminating infection, or both. (91)

However, a consensus regarding the ideal regimen, route of administration, and duration of antibiotic treatment has yet to be achieved since several regimens have been demonstrated to be beneficial. (68) Antibiotics have a generic impact, however there may be variances in the actions of different antibiotics in theory. For example, macrolide antibiotics like clindamycin and erythromycin, which diminish bacterial virulence, may be preferable to beta-lactam antibiotics like co-amoxiclav and cephalosporins, which generate endotoxins and prostaglandins, potentially worsening results. (92) In 2013, a systematic review examined the effects of giving antibiotics to women who had preterm rupture of membranes on fetal and neonatal morbidity and mortality, maternal infectious morbidity and mortality, and long-term childhood development. (93) The review included 22 trials with a total of 6872 women and their babies. The review found that compared with placebo/no treatment, there was a significant reduction in the number of newborns with an abnormal cerebral ultrasound before leaving the hospital (RR 0.81, 95% CI 0.68-0.98). Antibiotics were also linked to a statistically significant reduction in chorioamnionitis after preterm rupture of membranes (RR 0.66, 95% CI 0.460.96). The researchers concluded that antibiotics prescribed routinely to women with preterm rupture of membranes are linked to prolongation of pregnancy and improvements in a number of shortterm neonatal morbidities, but not to a significant reduction in perinatal mortality. Finally, they stated that despite not having a clear choice of antibiotic treatment, co-amoxiclav should be avoided in women diagnosed with PPROM due to a higher risk of neonatal necrotizing enterocolitis.

The use of erythromycin (with or without co-amoxiclav) was linked to a statistically significant increase in the proportion of children with any level of functional impairment, rising from 38% to 42%. Similarly, erythromycin caused a statistically significant increase in the proportion of children with cerebral palsy, from 1.7 percent to 3.3 percent, and co-amoxiclav caused a statistically significant increase in the proportion of children with cerebral palsy, from 1.9 percent to 3.2 percent. It was suggested that more cerebral palsy-affected children were born to mothers who had taken both antibiotics. In light of these findings, it's critical to be certain that a ruptured membranes diagnosis is correct before prescribing antibiotics. (93,94)

One retrospective study in 2015 claimed that preterm PROM can be caused by anaerobes and genital mycoplasmas, which are not well covered by antibiotics commonly used in clinical practice. (95) The goal of this study was to evaluate the results of PROM treated with commonly prescribed antibiotics vs a novel antibiotic combination that was more effective against these pathogens. They found that in patients with PPROM, a regimen consisting of ceftriaxone, clarithromycin, and metronidazole was associated with a significantly longer latency period and lower rates of spontaneous preterm delivery within 7 days, lower rates of acute histologic chorioamnionitis and funisitis, and lower rates of IVH and CP when compared to a regimen consisting primarily of ampicillin and/or cephalosporins. The findings of this study warrant more research to determine the best antimicrobial strategy and treatment duration in patients with preterm PROM.

A network meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials in 2019 intended to examine the efficacy of various antibiotic regimens on perinatal outcomes and to assess the present evidence's quality. (96) The researchers showed that clindamycin+gentamycin, penicillin, ampicillin/sulbactam+amoxicillin/clavulanic acid, and erythromycin+ampicillin+amoxycillin were found to be superior to placebo/no treatment in avoiding chorioamnionitis, in order of decreasing effect. They claimed that the reported protective effect of certain antibiotics on RDS and IVH can be attributed in part to the prolonging of pregnancy and in part to the prevention of chorioamnionitis, which can predispose to these complications, particularly when accompanied by fetal inflammatory response syndrome. However, they concluded that for

outcomes other than chorioamnionitis, namely short and long-term outcomes on the newborn, most antibiotics are not superior to placebo/no therapy. They stated that the evidence is of poor quality and out of date for some drugs, and routinely used antibiotics, particularly cephalosporins, are underrepresented in randomized controlled studies.

The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists recommend a 7-day course of latency antibiotics with a combination of intravenous ampicillin and erythromycin followed by oral amoxicillin and erythromycin during expectant management of women with preterm PROM who are less than 34 0/7 weeks of gestation. (72) In circumstances when erythromycin is not accessible or tolerated, some centers have substituted azithromycin (such as a single oral dose of azithromycin 1 g) for erythromycin, and this substitution is a feasible alternative. (97)

All pregnant women with PPROM between 24 to 33 weeks of gestation should be tested for Group B streptococcus colonization and receive prophylactic treatment, and although there are no well-studied alternatives for women allergic to beta-lactam antibiotics, it may be reasonable to investigate replacing the beta-lactam antibiotic with another medication that is effective against GBS. The intensity of the reported allergic reaction, as well as the antibiotic susceptibility results of the GBS culture, if available, will impact the choice of agent. (98) Daily vaginal tract cultures for GBS were negative in 29/33 patients (88 percent) by day 1, 32/33 patients by day 2, and all 33 patients by day 3 in an observational study of 33 GBS carriers with preterm prelabor rupture of membranes taking penicillin G prophylaxis. (99)

The use of tocolysis in the treatment of PPROM is still debatable. Although delaying birth may allow for prenatal corticosteroids and in utero transfer, as well as a reduction in prematurity related newborn morbidity, it may raise the risk of newborn morbidity and mortality by prolonging fetal exposure to maternofetal infection. (72) In a secondary analysis of a national, population-based, prospective cohort of preterm newborns recruited in France in 2011, researchers sought to evaluate whether tocolysis administration was linked to better neonatal and obstetric outcomes after PPROM. Their results showed that tocolysis administration was not associated with survival at discharge without significant morbidity or with delivery delayed by 48 hours after PPROM in cases of premature deliveries owing to PPROM, and the rate of histological chorioamnionitis after PPROM is comparable with and without tocolysis. (100)

A 2014 systematic review of randomized trials evaluated pregnancy outcomes of women with

PPROM who received or did not receive tocolytic therapy (prophylactic or therapeutic). Tocolytic therapy for pregnancies under 34 weeks did not appear to have a meaningful effect on perinatal mortality in women with PPROM as compared to no tocolysis. When compared to no tocolysis, tocolysis was related to a longer overall latency and fewer deliveries within 48 hours and seven days. Furthermore, tocolysis was linked to a greater rate of newborns with an Apgar score of less than seven at five minutes and a higher rate of neonates requiring ventilation. The small number and size of the trials, as well as the fact that patients did not consistently receive antenatal corticosteroids to reduce neonatal morbidity or antibiotics to prolong latency, which differs from current standards of care and may explain the lack of improvement in clinically important outcomes, are all limitations of these findings. (101)

Magnesium sulfate is given to pregnant women prior to delivery as part of conventional clinical protocols for fetal neuroprotection (e.g., pregnancies with a gestation of at least 24 but less than

32 weeks at risk of delivery). (68) Before an early preterm delivery, magnesium sulfate exposure in utero appears to reduce the incidence and severity of cerebral palsy. The mechanism behind magnesium sulfate's neuroprotective effects in preterm newborns is unknown, but it is thought to work by several mechanisms, such as stabilization of cerebral circulation by blood pressure stabilization and normalization of cerebral blood flow; Stabilization of neuronal membranes and blocking of excitatory neurotransmitters, such as glutamate, preventing excitatory injury; Antioxidant actions that protect against oxidative injury, and anti-inflammatory actions provide protection against inflammatory harm. (102,103)

The Cochrane meta-analysis analyzed the effectiveness and safety of magnesium sulfate as a neuroprotective agent when given to women at risk of preterm birth using the best available data. According to their results, the available evidence demonstrated that delivering antenatal magnesium sulfate therapy to women who are at risk of preterm birth significantly improved their unborn baby's chance of survival without cerebral palsy. In the entire exposed population, "any cerebral palsy" was greatly reduced (relative risk [RR] 0.68, 95 percent CI 0.54-0.87). The absolute risk of cerebral palsy was 3.4 percent for fetuses exposed to antenatal magnesium sulphate therapy vs 5% for those who were not, resulting in a 1.6 percent reduction in the absolute risk. (104)

Although maternal magnesium sulfate administration has not been linked to a lower risk of cerebral palsy-causing fetal brain lesions (such as severe intraventricular hemorrhage or cystic

white matter injury), it has been linked to a lower risk of cerebellar hemorrhage in preterm newborns. (105)

Magnesium sulphate should be administered at a dose of 4 g for 20 minutes intravenously, followed by a maintenance dose administered intravenously at a rate of 1 g / h until birth. If birth has not occurred, it is recommended to limit the magnesium sulfate infusion to a maximum of 24 hours, as this was the maximum period of therapy in seminal trials. (105)

### 3.3. Treatment of late preterm PROM (34 to 36 weeks of gestation)

In patients with PROM between 34 0/7 and 36 6/7 weeks of gestation, the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists recommend either expectant management or immediate delivery, both considered an acceptable choice, albeit the balance between benefit and risk, from both maternal and neonatal perspectives, should be carefully considered, and patients should be appropriately informed. (72) A randomized trial of 1,839 women in 2015 compared urgent delivery (within 24 hours of diagnosis) to expectant treatment in patients with PROM between 34 0/7 weeks of pregnancy and 36 6/7 weeks of pregnancy. The researchers found benefits to expectant management. Infants in the immediate delivery group experienced more respiratory distress and required mechanical ventilation, as well as spending more days in intensive care. However, expectant management was associated with a twofold increase in maternal unfavorable outcomes, including bleeding and infection, despite a reduced likelihood of cesarean birth. Therefore, they concluded that if expectant management is indicated, it should include thorough monitoring for signs and symptoms of maternal infection, chorioamnionitis, and antepartum hemorrhage. (106) Individualized care should be provided through joint decision-making, and expectant management should not go longer than 37 0/7 weeks. Antibiotics for latency, as well as tocolytic therapy, are inappropriate in this situation. (68,72)

Betamethasone therapy during the late preterm period, between 34 0/7 and 36 6/7 weeks of pregnancy, lowers respiratory morbidity in neonates. (107) A single dose of corticosteroids should be administered, as recommended by the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, for pregnant women between 34 0/7 weeks and 36 6/7 weeks of gestation who are at risk of premature birth within 7 days and have not taken prenatal corticosteroids. (108)

According to the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists' recommendations, antibiotics for GBS prophylaxis should not be delayed in women who are GBS positive while waiting for labor, and early induction rather than expectant management is indicated. (98)

Most patients will deliver through spontaneous or induced vaginal delivery if there are no contraindications to labor and vaginal birth. (109)

#### 4. Conclusion

The best way to assess and treat women with term and preterm PROM is still a work in progress. When pregnancy is permitted to develop to a later gestational age, treatment decisions are based on gestational age and a comparison of the relative risks of birth vs the risks (such as infection, abruptio placentae, and umbilical cord accident) of expectant management. Routine antibiotic use in pregnant women with PPROM has no effect on outcomes when compared to placebo, according to recent studies. Although most of today's guidelines recommend routine prophylactic antibiotic use to all pregnant women with PPROM, the decision in case of diagnostically unproven infection and only on the basis of clinical suspicion is still unclear. Regarding neurological results, antibiotics have only been shown to improve the rate of abnormal ultrasounds of the newborn's brain when at discharge from the hospital, with no evidence of antibiotics improving long-term neurological outcomes in children. Tocolytic therapy has no benefit for the baby or the mother in the case of women with PPROM. In fact, it may have detrimental consequences, as it increases the risk of chorioamnionitis. Advances and modifications in obstetric and pediatric treatment have resulted in improved survival and neurological outcomes for extremely preterm infants during the last two decades. Despite these advances, prenatal brain damage remains a major cause of long-term neurodevelopmental impairment. To improve long-term results, more research into novel therapy options addressing various parts of the varied pathways of prenatal brain injury is needed.

#### 5. Biography

Lirose Bracha was born on January 30<sup>th</sup>, 1994. Lirose served in the Israeli Defense Forces (IDF), in the Intelligence unit, between 2012 and 2014. During the years 2016-2022 Lirose studied general medicine in School of Medicine University of Zagreb, Croatia. During the studies Lirose spent three months in Yoseftal Hospital, Eilat as a study experience in the departments of Emergency Medicine, General Surgery, and Gynecology and Obstetrics. Additionally worked as a Physician's assistant in Yoseftal Hospital's Emergency department.

#### 6. References

- 1. Charles R. B. Beckmann, Frank W. Ling, Roger P. Smith, Barbara M. Barzansky, William N.P. Herbert, Douglas W. Laube Obstetrics and Gynecology, Sixth Edition (2009, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins) libgen.lc.
- 2. Simhan HN, Canavan TP. Preterm premature rupture of membranes: diagnosis, evaluation and management strategies [Internet]. Available from: www.blackwellpublishing.com/bjog
- 3. Gabbe SG, Niebyl JR, Leigh Simpson J, Landon MB, Galan HL, Jauniaux ER, et al. Obstetrics: Normal and Problem Pregnancies. Obstetrics: Normal and Problem Pregnancies. 2017.
- 4. Mercer BM. HIGH-RISK PREGNANCY SERIES: AN EXPERT'S VIEW Preterm Premature Rupture of the Membranes. 2003.
- 5. Mercer BM, Goldenberg RL, Moawad AH, Meis PJ, Iams JD, Das AF, et al. The Preterm Prediction Study: Effect of gestational age and cause of preterm birth on subsequent obstetric outcome.
- 6. Sung JH, Kuk JY, Cha HH, Choi SJ, Oh S young, Roh CR, et al. Amniopatch treatment for preterm premature rupture of membranes before 23 weeks' gestation and factors associated with its success. Taiwanese Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2017 Oct 1;56(5):599–605.
- 7. Mercer BM. Preterm premature rupture of the membranes: Current approaches to evaluation and management. Vol. 32, Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinics of North America. 2005. p. 411–28.
- 8. Goldenberg RL, Culhane JF, Iams JD, Romero R. Preterm Birth 1 Epidemiology and causes of preterm birth [Internet]. Vol. 371, www.thelancet.com. 2008. Available from: www.thelancet.com
- 9. Lee T, Silver H. PRELABOR RUPTURE OF MEMBRANES ETIOLOGY AND EPIDEMIOLOGY OF PRETERM PREMATURE RUPTURE OF THE MEMBRANES. Vol. 28. 2001.
- 10. Bulat S. Utjecaj upotrebe antibiotika kod prijevremenog prsnuća vodenjaka na neurološke posljedice djeteta [Internet]. Available from: https://urn.nsk.hr/urn:nbn:hr:105:568311
- 11. Abouseif HA, Mansour AF, Hassan SF, Sabbour SM. Hasnaa A Abouseif, et al Prevalence and outcome of Preterm Premature Rupture Prevalence and outcome of Preterm Premature Rupture of Membranes (PPROM) among pregnant women attending Ain Shams maternity hospital. Vol. 36, The Egyptian Journal of Community Medicine. 2018.
- 12. Jamal S, Srivastava R. A retrospective analytical study of the epidemiology and causes of preterm birth. International Journal of Reproduction, Contraception, Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2017 Nov 23;6(12):5453.

- 13. Mercer BM, Goldenberg RL, Meis PJ, Moawad AH, Shellhaas C, Das A, et al. The preterm prediction study: Prediction of preterm premature rupture of membranes through clinical findings and ancillary testing. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2000;183(3):738–45.
- 14. Mcgregor JA, French JI, Parker R, Draper D, Patterson E, Jones W, et al. Prevention of premature birth by screening and treatment for common genital tract infections: Results of a prospective controlled evaluation.
- 15. Tchirikov M, Zhumadilov Z, Winarno AS, Haase R, Buchmann J. Treatment of Preterm Premature Rupture of Membranes with Oligo-/Anhydramnion Colonized by Multiresistant Bacteria with Continuous Amnioinfusion and Antibiotic Administrations through a Subcutaneously Implanted Intrauterine Port System: A Case Report. Fetal Diagnosis and Therapy. 2017 Jul 1;42(1):71–6.
- 16. Regan JA, Klebanoff MA, Nugent RP, Eschenbach DA, Blackwelder WC, Lou Y, et al. Colonization with group B streptococci in pregnancy and adverse outcome.
- 17. Shen TT, DeFranco EA, Stamilio DM, Chang JJ, Muglia LJ. A population-based study of race-specific risk for preterm premature rupture of membranes. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2008;199(4):373.e1-373.e7.
- 18. Menon R, Richardson LS. Preterm prelabor rupture of the membranes: A disease of the fetal membranes. Seminars in Perinatology. 2017 Nov 1;41(7):409–19.
- 19. Tchirikov M, Schlabritz-Loutsevitch N, Maher J, Buchmann J, Naberezhnev Y, Winarno AS, et al. Mid-trimester preterm premature rupture of membranes (PPROM): Etiology, diagnosis, classification, international recommendations of treatment options and outcome. Vol. 46, Journal of Perinatal Medicine. Walter de Gruyter GmbH; 2018. p. 465–88.
- 20. George RB, Kalich J, Yonish B, Murtha AP. Apoptosis in the chorion of fetal membranes in preterm premature rupture of membranes. American Journal of Perinatology. 2008 Jan;25(1):29–32.
- 21. Vadillo-Ortega F, Estrada-Gutiérrez G. Role of matrix metalloproteinases in preterm labour [Internet]. Available from: www.blackwellpublishing.com/bjog
- 22. DiGiulio DB, Romero R, Kusanovic JP, Gómez R, Kim CJ, Seok KS, et al. Prevalence and Diversity of Microbes in the Amniotic Fluid, the Fetal Inflammatory Response, and Pregnancy Outcome in Women with Preterm Pre-Labor Rupture of Membranes. American Journal of Reproductive Immunology. 2010 Jul;64(1):38–57.
- 23. Maymon E, Romero R, Pacora P, Gomez R, Athayde N, Edwin S, et al. Human neutrophil collagenase (matrix metalloproteinase 8) in parturition, premature rupture of the membranes, and intrauterine infection. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2000;183(1):94–9.
- 24. Maymon E, Romero R, Pacora P, Gervasi MT, Bianco K, Ghezzi F, et al. Evidence for the participation of interstitial collagenase (matrix metalloproteinase 1) in preterm

- premature rupture of membranes. In: American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. Mosby Inc.; 2000. p. 914–20.
- 25. Kumar D, Moore RM, Mercer BM, Mansour JM, Redline RW, Moore JJ. The physiology of fetal membrane weakening and rupture: Insights gained from the determination of physical properties revisited. Vol. 42, Placenta. W.B. Saunders Ltd; 2016. p. 59–73.
- 26. Joyce EM, Moore JJ, Sacks MS. Biomechanics of the fetal membrane prior to mechanical failure: Review and implications. Vol. 144, European Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology and Reproductive Biology. Elsevier Ireland Ltd; 2009.
- 27. Menon R. Oxidative stress damage as a detrimental factor in preterm birth pathology. Vol. 5, Frontiers in Immunology. Frontiers Media S.A.; 2014.
- 28. Buhimschi IA, Buhimschi CS, Pupkin M, Weiner CP. Beneficial impact of term labor: Nonenzymatic antioxidant reserve in the human fetus. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2003 Jul 1;189(1):181–8.
- 29. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists' Committee on Practice Bulletins—Obstetrics. Practice Bulletin No. 172: Premature Rupture of Membranes. Obstet Gynecol. 2016 Oct;128(4):e165-77.
- 30. Preterm prelabor rupture of membranes: Clinical manifestations and diagnosis UpToDate [Internet]. Available from: https://www.uptodate.com/contents/pretermprelabor-rupture-of-membranes-clinical-manifestations-and-diagnosis?search=preterm%20premature%20rupture%20of%20membranes&source=search\_result&selectedTitle=2~133&usage\_type=default&display\_rank=2
- 31. El-Messidi A, Cameron A. Diagnosis of Premature Rupture of Membranes: Inspiration From the Past and Insights for the Future. Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada. 2010;32(6):561–9.
- 32. Ramsauer B, Vidaeff AC, Hosli I, Park JS, Strauss A, Khodjaeva Z, et al. The diagnosis of rupture of fetal membranes (ROM): A meta-analysis. Vol. 41, Journal of Perinatal Medicine. 2013. p. 233–40.
- 33. Hagberg H, Gressens P, Mallard C. Inflammation during fetal and neonatal life: Implications for neurologic and neuropsychiatric disease in children and adults. Vol. 71, Annals of Neurology. 2012. p. 444–57.
- 34. Hagberg H, Mallard C, Ferriero DM, Vannucci SJ, Levison SW, Vexler ZS, et al. The role of inflammation in perinatal brain injury. Vol. 11, Nature Reviews Neurology. Nature Publishing Group; 2015. p. 192–208.
- 35. Dammann O, Leviton A. Intermittent or sustained systemic inflammation and the preterm brain. Pediatric Research. 2014 Mar;75(3):376–80.
- 36. Sävman K, Blennow M, Gustafson K, Tarkowski E, Hagberg H. Cytokine Response in Cerebrospinal Fluid after Birth Asphyxia. Pediatric Research 1998 43:6 [Internet].

- 1998;43(6):746–51. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/pr19982166
- 37. Bartha AI, Foster-Barber A, Miller SP, Vigneron DB, Glidden D v., Barkovich AJ, et al. Neonatal encephalopathy: Association of cytokines with MR spectroscopy and outcome. Pediatric Research. 2004 Dec;56(6):960–6.
- 38. Nelson KB, Dambrosia JM, Grether JK, Phillips TM, Kb N, Jm D, et al. Neonatal cytokines and coagulation factors in children with cerebral palsy. Vol. 44, Ann Neurol. 1998.
- 39. Wu YW, Gabriel Escobar MJ, Grether JK, Croen LA, Greene JD, Thomas Newman MB. Chorioamnionitis and Cerebral Palsy in Term and Near-Term Infants [Internet]. Available from: http://jama.jamanetwork.com/
- 40. Ward RM, Beachy JC. Neonatal complications following preterm birth. In: BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology. Elsevier BV; 2003. p. 8–16.
- 41. Long-term outcome of the preterm infant UpToDate [Internet]. Available from: https://www.uptodate.com/contents/long-term-outcome-of-the-preterm-infant?search=periventricular%20leukomalacia&source=search\_result&selectedTitle= 9~76&usage\_type=default&display\_rank=9#H1
- 42. Short-term complications of the preterm infant UpToDate [Internet]. Available from: https://www.uptodate.com/contents/short-term-complications-of-the-preterminfant?search=preterm%20premature%20rupture%20of%20membranes&topic Ref=12 0959&source=see\_link#H11
- 43. Germinal matrix hemorrhage and intraventricular hemorrhage (GMH-IVH) in the newborn: Prevention, management, and complications UpToDate [Internet]. Available from: https://www.uptodate.com/contents/germinal-matrix-hemorrhage-andintraventricular-hemorrhage-gmh-ivh-in-the-newborn-prevention-management-andcomplications?search=preterm%20premature%20rupture%20of%20membranes&t opic Ref=4965&source=see link
- 44. Dammann O, Leviton A, Gappa M, Dammann CEL. Lung and brain damage in preterm newborns, and their association with gestational age, prematurity subgroup, infection/inflammation and long term outcome [Internet]. Available from: www.blackwellpublishing.com/bjog
- 45. Mukerji A, Shah V, Shah PS. Periventricular/intraventricular hemorrhage and neurodevelopmental outcomes: A meta-analysis. Vol. 136, Pediatrics. American Academy of Pediatrics; 2015. p. 1132–43.
- 46. Payne AH, Hintz SR, Hibbs AM, Walsh MC, Vohr BR, Bann CM, et al. Neurodevelopmental outcomes of extremely low-gestational-age neonates with lowgrade periventricular-intraventricular hemorrhage. JAMA Pediatrics. 2013 May;167(5):451–9.
- 47. Stark MJ, Hodyl NA, Kumar Belegar V K, Andersen CC. Intrauterine inflammation, cerebral oxygen consumption and susceptibility to early brain injury in very preterm newborns. Available from: http://fn.bmj.com/

- 48. Stolp HB, Ek CJ, Johansson PA, Dziegielewska KM, Bethge N, Wheaton BJ, et al. Factors involved in inflammation-induced developmental white matter damage. Neuroscience Letters. 2009 Feb 27;451(3):232–6.
- 49. Elovitz MA, Brown AG, Breen K, Anton L, Maubert M, Burd I. Intrauterine inflammation, insufficient to induce parturition, still evokes fetal and neonatal brain injury. International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience. 2011 Oct;29(6):663–71.
- 50. Batton B, Zhu X, Fanaroff J, Kirchner HL, Berlin S, Wilson-Costello D, et al. Blood Pressure, Anti-Hypotensive Therapy, and Neurodevelopment in Extremely Preterm Infants. Journal of Pediatrics. 2009;154(3).
- 51. Huang J, Meng J, Choonara I, Xiong T, Wang Y, Wang H, et al. Antenatal infection and intraventricular hemorrhage in preterm infants: A meta-analysis. Vol. 98, Medicine (United States). Lippincott Williams and Wilkins; 2019.
- 52. Volpe JJ. Neurology of the Newborn (Volpe, Neurology of the Newborn), 5Th Edition.
- 53. Al-Abdi SY, Al-Aamri MA. A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of the Timing of Early Intraventricular Hemorrhage in Preterm Neonates: Clinical and Research Implications. Journal of Clinical Neonatology [Internet]. 2014;3(2):76. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC4089133/
- 54. Ment LR, Bada; H S, Barnes; P, Grant; P E, Hirtz; D, Papile; L A, et al. Practice parameter: Neuroimaging of the neonate Report of the Quality Standards Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology and the Practice Committee of the Child Neurology Society [Internet]. 2002. Available from: www.neurology.org
- 55. Cizmeci MN, de Vries LS, Ly LG, van Haastert IC, Groenendaal F, Kelly EN, et al. Periventricular Hemorrhagic Infarction in Very Preterm Infants: Characteristic Sonographic Findings and Association with Neurodevelopmental Outcome at Age 2 Years. Journal of Pediatrics. 2020 Feb 1;217:79-85.e1.
- 56. Stroke in the newborn: Classification, manifestations, and diagnosis UpToDate [Internet]. Available from: https://www.uptodate.com/contents/stroke-in-the-newbornclassification-manifestations-anddiagnosis?search=periventricular%20leukomalacia&sectionRank=1&usage\_type=defa ult&anchor=H30&source=machineLearning&selectedTitle=1~76&display\_rank=1#H 30
- 57. Tsimis ME, Johnson CT, Raghunathan RS, Northington FJ, Burd I, Graham EM. Risk factors for periventricular white matter injury in very low birthweight neonates.

  American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2016 Mar 1;214(3):380.e1-380.e6.
- 58. Novak CM, Ozen M, Burd I. Perinatal Brain Injury: Mechanisms, Prevention, and Outcomes. Vol. 45, Clinics in Perinatology. W.B. Saunders; 2018. p. 357–75.
- 59. Gotardo JW, de Freitas Valle Volkmer N, Stangler GP, Dornelles AD, de Athayde Bohrer BB, Carvalho CG. Impact of peri-intraventricular haemorrhage and

- periventricular leukomalacia in the neurodevelopment of preterms: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Vol. 14, PLoS ONE. Public Library of Science; 2019.
- 60. Denzler A, Burkhardt T, Natalucci G, Zimmermann R. Latency after preterm prelabor rupture of the membranes: Increased risk for periventricular leukomalacia. Journal of Pregnancy. 2014;2014.
- 61. Long-term neurodevelopmental impairment in infants born preterm: Epidemiology and risk factors UpToDate [Internet]. Available from:

  https://www.uptodate.com/contents/long-term-neurodevelopmental-impairment-ininfants-born-preterm-epidemiology-and-risk-factors?sectionName=Extremely%20preterm%20infant&search=periventricular%20le ukomalacia&topicRef=5033&anchor=H6&source=see\_link#H6
- 62. Intraamniotic infection (clinical chorioamnionitis) UpToDate [Internet]. Available from: https://www.uptodate.com/contents/intraamniotic-infection-clinical-chorioamnionitis?sectionName=FETAL%20AND%20NEONATAL%20OUTCOME &search=preterm%20premature%20rupture%20of%20membranes&topicRef=120959 &anchor=H18&source=see\_link#H19
- 63. Strijbis EMM, Oudman I, van Essen P, Maclennan AH. Cerebral Palsy and the Application of the International Criteria for Acute Intrapartum Hypoxia LEVEL OF EVIDENCE: II-3. Vol. 107, Obstet Gynecol. 2006.
- 64. Pappas A, Kendrick DE, Shankaran S, Stoll BJ, Bell EF, Laptook AR, et al. Chorioamnionitis and early childhood outcomes among extremely low-gestational-age neonates. JAMA Pediatrics. 2014 Feb;168(2):137–47.
- Shatrov JG, Birch SCM, Lam LT, Quinlivan JA, Mcintyre S, Mendz GL.
   Chorioamnionitis and Cerebral Palsy A Meta-Analysis. Vol. 116, Obstet Gynecol. 2010.
- 66. Vander E, Gyamfi-Bannerman C. Chorioamnionitis and Neurocognitive Development at Age 2 Years. Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2016 Mar 1;127(3):437–41.
- 67. Pierrat V, Marchand-Martin L, Arnaud C, Kaminski M, Resche-Rigon M, Lebeaux C, et al. Neurodevelopmental outcome at 2 years for preterm children born at 22 to 34 weeks' gestation in France in 2011: EPIPAGE-2 cohort study. BMJ (Online). 2017;358.
- 68. Preterm prelabor rupture of membranes: Management and outcome UpToDate [Internet]. Available from: https://www.uptodate.com/contents/preterm-prelaborrupture-of-membranes-management-and-outcome?search=preterm%20premature%20rupture%20of%20membranes&source=search\_result&selectedTitle=1~133&usage\_type=default&display\_rank=1
- 69. Committee on Practice Bulletins-Obstetrics. ACOG Practice Bulletin No. 188: Prelabor Rupture of Membranes. Obstet Gynecol. 2018 Jan;131(1):e1-e14.

- 70. Prelabor rupture of membranes before and at the limit of viability UpToDate [Internet]. Available from: https://www.uptodate.com/contents/prelabor-rupture-ofmembranes-before-and-at-the-limit-of-viability?search=preterm%20premature%20rupture%20of%20membranes&topicRef=120959&source=see\_link
- 71. Miyazaki K, Furuhashi M, Yoshida K, Ishikawa K. Aggressive intervention of previable preterm premature rupture of membranes. Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica. 2012 Aug;91(8):923–9.
- 72. ACOG PRACTICE BULLETIN Clinical Management Guidelines for ObstetricianGynecologists Prelabor Rupture of Membranes [Internet]. 2020. Available from: http://journals.lww.com/greenjournal
- 73. Butt FT, Ahmed B. The role of antepartum transabdominal amnioinfusion in the management of oligohydramnios in pregnancy. Journal of Maternal-Fetal and Neonatal Medicine. 2011 Mar;24(3):453–7.
- 74. Tranquilli AL, Giannubilo SR, Bezzeccheri V, Scagnoli C. Transabdominal amnioinfusion in preterm premature rupture of membranes: a randomised controlled trial [Internet]. Available from: www.blackwellpublishing.com/bjog
- 75. Devlieger R, Millar LK, Bryant-Greenwood G, Lewi L, Deprest JA. Fetal membrane healing after spontaneous and iatrogenic membrane rupture: A review of current evidence. Vol. 195, American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2006. p. 1512–20.
- 76. Young BK, Roman AS, MacKenzie AP, Stephenson CD, Minior V, Rebarber A, et al. The closure of iatrogenic membrane defects after amniocentesis and endoscopic intrauterine procedures. Fetal Diagnosis and Therapy. 2004;19(3):296–300.
- 77. Quintero RA, Morales WJ, Allen M, Bornick PW, Arroyo J, LeParc G. Treatment of iatrogenic previable premature rupture of membranes with intra-amniotic injection of platelets and cryoprecipitate (amniopatch): Preliminary experience. 1999.
- 78. Crowley AE, Grivell RM, Dodd JM. Sealing procedures for preterm prelabour rupture of membranes. Vol. 2016, Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. John Wiley and Sons Ltd; 2016.
- 79. Transvaginal cervical cerclage UpToDate [Internet]. Available from: https://www.uptodate.com/contents/transvaginal-cervical-cerclage?sectionName=Removal%20of%20cerclage%20after%20PPROM&search=preterm%20premature%20rupture%20of%20membranes&topicRef=6741&anchor=H320441375&source=see\_link#H320441375
- 80. McElrath TF, Norwitz ER, Lieberman ES, Heffner LJ. Perinatal outcome after preterm premature rupture of membranes with in situ cervical cerclage. In: American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. Mosby Inc.; 2002. p. 1147–52.
- 81. Lorthe E, Ancel PY, Torchin H, Kaminski M, Langer B, Subtil D, et al. Impact of Latency Duration on the Prognosis of Preterm Infants after Preterm Premature Rupture

- of Membranes at 24 to 32 Weeks' Gestation: A National Population-Based Cohort Study. Journal of Pediatrics. 2017 Mar 1;182:47-52.e2.
- 82. Roos C, Schuit E, Scheepers HCJ, Bloemenkamp KWM, Bolte AC, Duvekot HJJ, et al. Predictive Factors for Delivery within 7 Days after Successful 48-Hour Treatment of Threatened Preterm Labor Case Report e141. Am J Perinatol Rep [Internet]. 2015;5:141–9. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/
- 83. Thomson AJ. Care of Women Presenting with Suspected Preterm Prelabour Rupture of Membranes from 24+0 Weeks of Gestation: Green-top Guideline No. 73. BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology. 2019 Aug 1;126(9):e152–66.
- 84. Preterm labour and birth NICE guideline [Internet]. 2015. Available from: www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng25
- 85. Antenatal corticosteroid therapy for reduction of neonatal respiratory morbidity and mortality from preterm delivery UpToDate [Internet]. Available from: https://www.uptodate.com/contents/antenatal-corticosteroid-therapy-for-reduction-ofneonatal-respiratory-morbidity-and-mortality-from-pretermdelivery?sectionName=23%2B0%20to%2033%2B6%20weeks&search=preter m%20p remature%20rupture%20of%20membranes&topicRef=120959&anchor=H243908563 1&source=see\_link#H2439085631
- 86. Brownfoot FC, Crowther CA, Middleton P. Different corticosteroids and regimens for accelerating fetal lung maturation for women at risk of preterm birth (Review) [Internet]. 2009. Available from: http://www.thecochranelibrary.com
- 87. Räikkönen K, Gissler M, Kajantie E. Associations between Maternal Antenatal Corticosteroid Treatment and Mental and Behavioral Disorders in Children. JAMA Journal of the American Medical Association. 2020 May 19;323(19):1924–33.
- 88. Crowther CA, Middleton PF, Voysey M, Askie LM, Zhang S, Martlow TK, et al. Effects of repeat prenatal corticosteroids given to women at risk of preterm birth: An individual participant data meta-analysis. PLoS Medicine. 2019 Apr 1;16(4).
- 89. Mercer BM, Miodovnik M, Thurnau GR, Goldenberg RL, Das AF, Ramsey RD, et al. Antibiotic Therapy for Reduction of Infant Morbidity After Preterm Premature Rupture of the Membranes A Randomized Controlled Trial [Internet]. Available from: http://jama.jamanetwork.com/
- 90. Kenyon S, Taylor D. ORACLE-antibiotics for preterm prelabour rupture of the membranes: short-term and long-term outcomes.
- 91. Kenyon S, Brocklehurst P, Jones D, Marlow N, Salt A, Taylor D. MRC ORACLE Children Study. Long term outcomes following prescription of antibiotics to pregnant women with either spontaneous preterm labour or preterm rupture of the membranes. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth. 2008 Apr 24;8.
- 92. McGregor JA, French JI. Evidence-based Prevention of Preterm Birth and Rupture of Membranes: Infection and Inflammation. Journal SOGC. 1997 Jul;19(8):835–52.

- 93. Kenyon S, Boulvain M, Jp N. Antibiotics for preterm rupture of membranes (Review) [Internet]. 2013. Available from: http://www.thecochranelibrary.com
- 94. Kenyon S, Pike K, Jones DR, Brocklehurst P, Marlow N, Salt A, et al. Articles Childhood outcomes after prescription of antibiotics to pregnant women with preterm rupture of the membranes: 7-year follow-up of the ORACLE I trial. www.thelancet.com [Internet]. 2008;372. Available from: www.thelancet.com
- 95. Lee JH, Romero R, Kim SM, Chaemsaithong P, Park CW, Park JS, et al. A new antimicrobial combination prolongs the latency period, reduces acute histologic chorioamnionitis as well as funisitis, and improves neonatal outcomes in preterm PROM. Journal of Maternal-Fetal and Neonatal Medicine. 2016 Mar 3;29(5):707–20.
- 96. Chatzakis C, Papatheodorou S, Sarafidis K, Dinas K, Makrydimas G, Sotiriadis A. Effect on perinatal outcome of prophylactic antibiotics in preterm prelabor rupture of membranes: network meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Vol. 55, Ultrasound in Obstetrics and Gynecology. John Wiley and Sons Ltd; 2020. p. 20–31.
- 97. Navathe R, Schoen CN, Heidari P, Bachilova S, Ward A, Tepper J, et al. Azithromycin vs erythromycin for the management of preterm premature rupture of membranes. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2019 Aug 1;221(2):144.e1-144.e8.
- 98. Number. ACOG COMMITTEE OPINION Committee on Obstetric Practice [Internet]. 2020. Available from: http://journals.lww.com/greenjournal
- 99. Alvarez JR, Williams SF, Ganesh VL, Apuzzio JJ. Duration of antimicrobial prophylaxis for group B streptococcus in patients with preterm premature rupture of membranes who are not in labor. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2007;197(4):390.e1-390.e4.
- 100. Lorthe E, Goffinet F, Marret S, Vayssiere C, Flamant C, Quere M, et al. Tocolysis after preterm premature rupture of membranes and neonatal outcome: a propensityscore analysis. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2017 Aug 1;217(2):212.e1-212.e12.
- 101. Ad M, Seibel-Seamon J, Muhammad J, Jk B, Berghella V. Tocolytics for preterm premature rupture of membranes (Review) [Internet]. 2014. Available from: http://www.thecochranelibrary.com
- 102. Costantine MM, Drever N. Antenatal Exposure to Magnesium Sulfate and Neuroprotection in Preterm Infants. Vol. 38, Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinics of North America. 2011. p. 351–66.
- 103. Marret S, Doyle LW, Crowther CA, Middleton P. Antenatal magnesium sulphate neuroprotection in the preterm infant. Seminars in Fetal and Neonatal Medicine. 2007 Aug;12(4):311–7.
- 104. Lw D, Ca C, Middleton P, Rouse MS. Magnesium sulphate for women at risk of preterm birth for neuroprotection of the fetus (Review) [Internet]. 2010. Available from: http://www.thecochranelibrary.com

- 105. Neuroprotective effects of in utero exposure to magnesium sulfate UpToDate [Internet]. Available from: https://www.uptodate.com/contents/neuroprotectiveeffects-of-in-utero-exposure-to-magnesium-sulfate?search=preterm%20premature%20rupture%20of%20membranes&topicRef=12 0959&source=see\_link
- 106. Morris JM, Roberts CL, Bowen JR, Patterson JA, Bond DM, Algert CS, et al. Immediate delivery compared with expectant management after preterm pre-labour rupture of the membranes close to term (PPROMT trial): A randomised controlled trial. The Lancet. 2016 Jan 30;387(10017):444–52.
- 107. Gyamfi-Bannerman C, Thom EA, Blackwell SC, Tita ATN, Reddy UM, Saade GR, et al. Antenatal Betamethasone for Women at Risk for Late Preterm Delivery. New England Journal of Medicine. 2016 Apr 7;374(14):1311–20.
- 108. Antenatal Corticosteroid Therapy for Fetal Maturation Committee on Obstetric Practice.
- 109. Kunze M, Hart JE, Lynch AM, Gibbs RS. Intrapartum management of premature rupture of membranes: Effect on cesarean delivery rate. Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2011 Dec;118(6):1247–54.